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LABOR LAW

Prior to the enactment of the National Labor Relations Act,'
employers could deny employees the right to organize or bargain
collectively.2 Employer denial of those rights led to industrial
strife and unrest, which had the effect of curtailing the free flow of
commerce.3 Congressional concern over the situation resulted in
the enactment of the NLRA.4 The purpose of the NLRA was to
eliminate obstructions on the free flow of commerce by encourag-
ing collective bargaining, and protecting employee rights of associ-
ation, organization and designation of a representative.5 To
accomplish this purpose, the Act established the National Labor
Relations Board,6 which was given the power to conduct elections
for employee representatives, 7 and to prevent employers from en-
gaging in unfair labor practices. 8

Section 7, which is considered to be the heart of the NLRA,
gives employees the right to organize, join, or assist a labor organi-
zation, and to bargain collectively, or to refuse to do so.9 The sanc-
tions for interfering with these rights are found in Section 8.10

EMPLOYEE-EMPLOYER RELATIONS

Section 8(a) of the NLRA defines employer conduct consid-
ered to be an unfair labor practice." In general, an employer is not
allowed "to interfere with, restrain, or coerce" employees in the
exercise of their section 7 rights under section 8(a)(1).12 In spe-

1. The National Labor Relations Act (hereinafter cited as NLRA) is codified at
29 U.S.C. §§ 151-69 (1976). The Act, originally adopted as the Wagner Act, ch. 372,
§§ 1-13, 49 Stat. 449 (1935), established the National Labor Relations Board (herein-
after referred to as the Board).

National labor policy has developed in three stages beginning with the NLRA,
and modified by the Taft-Hartley Act, ch. 120, §§ 1-503, 61 Stat. 136 (1947) (codified at
29 U.S.C. § 141-97 (1976)); and the Landrum-Griffin Act, Pub. L. No. 86-251, 73 Stat.
519 (1959) (codified at 29 U.S.C. §§ 153, 158-60, 164, 186-87, 401). The cases in this
survey are concerned exclusively with the NLRA.

2. Prior to the NLRA, employee rights to organize and bargain collectively
were protected by the United States Constitution, but only against governmental
infringement. NLRB v. Jones & Laughlin Steel Corp., 301 U.S. 1, 33 (1937).

3. 29 U.S.C. § 151 (1976).
4. Id.
5. Id.
6. Id. § 153.
7. Id. § 159(c)(1).
8. Id. § 160(a).
9. Id. § 157.

10. Id. § 158.
11. Id. § 158(a).
12. Id. § 158(a)(1).
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cific, sections 8(a) (2)-(5) set out four areas of interference consid-
ered to be particularly objectionable. 13

Twelve cases dealing with such topics as employer conduct
before an election, 14 investigatory interviews, 15 duty to bargain, 16

and discriminatory discharges 17 are considered in this section.

EMPLOYER CONDUCT BEFORE AN ELECTION

There are generally three ways in which a union can gain rec-
ognition as a bargaining representative for a particular group of
employees: informally through employer consent; formally with
an NLRB election and certification; and through unfair labor prac-
tices proceedings. 18 If formal procedures are used and the NLRB
schedules an election, the employer must be careful in the interim
period between the election and certification not to interfere with
his employees' decision. 19 Since it is rare that an employer will
look upon the recognition of a union with "wild glee", the Board
looks to the effect of employer actions rather than to the motive
behind them.20

In NLRB v. Intertherm, Inc.,2 1 the Board had determined that
in ten instances the conduct of Intertherm's management and su-
pervisory personnel before an election was in violation of section
8(a) (1) of the NLRA.22 The Eighth Circuit determined that seven

13. Id. §§ 158(a)(2)-(5).
14. Curlee Clothing Co. v. NLRB, 607 F.2d 1213 (8th Cir. 1979); NLRB v. In-

tertherm, Inc., 596 F.2d 267 (8th Cir. 1979).
15. NLRB v. Potter Elec. Signal Co., 600 F.2d 120 (8th Cir. 1979); AAA Equip.

Ser. Co. v. NLRB, 598 F.2d 1142 (8th Cir. 1979); Newton Sheet Metal, Inc. v. NLRB,
598 F.2d 478 (8th Cir. 1979).

16. Procter & Gamble Mfg. Co. v. NLRB, 603 F.2d 1310 (8th Cir. 1979); American
Oil Co. v. NLRB, 602 F.2d 184 (8th Cir. 1979); Valmac Indus., Inc. v. NLRB, 599 F.2d
246 (8th Cir. 1979).

17. Nebraska Bulk Transp., Inc. v. NLRB, 608 F.2d 311 (8th Cir. 1979); Berbiglia,
Inc. v. NLRB, 602 F.2d 839 (8th Cir. 1979).

18. R. GORMAN, BASIC TEXT ON LABOR LAw 93 (1976).
19. Christensen & Christensen, Gissel Packing and "Good Faith Doubt" The

Gestalt of Required Recognition of Unions under the NLRA, 37 U. CHi. L. REV. 411,
425 (1970). The term "employer" is defined in the Act as including "any person
acting as an agent of an employer, directly or indirectly. 29 U.S.C. § 152(2)
(1976).

20. Christensen & Christensen, supra note 19, at 430, 449.
21. 596 F.2d 267 (8th Cir. 1979).
22. The ten instances consisted of the following: one employee told another

that he could not wear the union insignia or he would get fired; the supervisor pres-
ent ratified the statement by not correcting it, id. at 272; the supervisor then ordered
the removal of the insignia, never returning to inform the employee of his right to
wear it, id.; supervisor covered an employee's union logo with an Intertherm logo,
id.; supervisor pulled union authorization cards out of an employee's pocket, saw
what they were, and put them back, id. at 273; plant manager stopped employee in
the parking lot and interrogated him concerning his union activities, id.; employee
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out of the ten incidents were in fact violations. 23 One of the inci-
dents involved a pre-election speech given by the company vice-
president. 24 The court looked to NLRB v. Gissel Packing Co. 25 to
determine whether the speech given by the company vice-presi-
dent contained a threat of plant closure in violation of section
8(a) (1).26 In Gissel the Supreme Court recognized the importance
of balancing employer free speech rights with employee rights of
free choice about collective bargaining.27 In order to achieve that
balance, the Court formulated certain guidelines for employer pre-
election speeches. 28 These included allowing the employer to
make a carefully stated prediction concerning unionization, but
not a "threat of reprisal or force or promise of benefit. '29 The
Court seemed particularly interested in the extent that a particu-
lar speech is based on "demonstrably probable consequences,"
and the extent that the consequences predicted are within the em-
ployer's power or beyond his control.30

asked supervisor why he was "so hot against the union," and the supervisor re-
sponded, "What are you going to do for a job if the uniondon't [sic] get in?" id.; the
company issued a reprimand to an employee for failing to work a full shift three
times in one month and the employee left early one day to attend a union meeting,
id. at 274; when the employee objected to the reprimand, his supervisor replied that
if he were unhappy with the company, he should look for another job, id. at 275;
supervisor polled six employees as to how they would vote in the upcoming elec-
tion, id. at 276; employer gave an anti-union speech to the employees, id. at 277-78.

23. The court found three of the incidents did not constitute violations of the
NLRA. The court found that Intertherm was justified in issuing the employee repri-
mand, because it was based on a "nondiscriminatory tardiness policy," and was not
applied so as to discourage employees from engaging in union activities. 596 F.2d at
275. The court found that the polling incident was not a violation because of the
prompt steps Intertherm took to remedy the situation. Id. at 276. The court found
that the employer's speech simply stated his view of the potential economic effects
of a union victory, and therefore was protected by section 8(c) of the NLRA which
protects the employer's statements unless they contain a threat of reprisal or force
or promise of benefit. Id. at 278.

24. 596 F.2d at 277-78. The vice-president's speech was as follows:
As I said, there is no magic in unions. If a company is competitive, if it
manufactures a good product in an efficient and productive way, there is
going to be job security whether you have a union or whether you do not. I
have dealt with a number of unions in which I have had to shut down
plants, or move them elsewhere. I've sat at the bargaining table and told an
international union that you'll either have to agree to the company's posi-
tion or we'll shut the plant down. They didn't believe me and we shut the
plant down. These are not threats, these are simply facts showing what I
think all of you really understand. Whether you have a union or whether
you do not have a union, a company must remain competitive and it must
grow if it is going to succeed." Id.
25. 395 U.S. 575 (1969).
26. 596 F.2d at 277-78.
27. 395 U.S. at 618.
28. Id.
29. Id.
30. Id.

19801 1413



CREIGHTON LAW REVIEW

In Intertherm the court noted that the vice-president had been
careful to state that "his remarks were not threats but simply his
view of the possible economic consequences of a union victory."3 1

As a result, after considering the speech in the context in which it
was made, the court held that the remarks were protected by the
first amendment, and therefore section 8(a) (1) had not been vio-
lated.

32

The Administrative Law Judge had recommended setting
aside the election solely because of the vice-president's speech,
and the Board had adopted its recommendation. 33 Even though
the court found that the speech did not violate the Act, it refused to
reinstate the election results because the Board's election order
was not "ripe for review. ' 34 The court did, however, recognize the
company's right to challenge the Board's election order in future
proceedings.

35

The Eighth Circuit also considered employer conduct before
an election in Curlee Clothing Co. v. NLRB.3 6 In that case Curlee
refused to bargain with a union, rejecting its claim to majority sta-
tus. 37 An election was held, and the union lost.3 8 The union then
accused the company of an unfair labor practice, charging that the
company's pre-election misconduct had dissipated its authoriza-
tion card majority.39 The Board found that the company violated
section 8(a) (1) of the NLRA, and issued a bargaining order.40 On
appeal, Curlee contended that since the offending employees had
left the company, a fair election was now possible. 41

31. 596 F.2d at 278.
32. Id.
33. Id.
34. Id.
35. Id.
36. 607 F.2d 1213 (8th Cir. 1979).
37. 607 F.2d at 1215.
38. Id.
39. Id. Curlee involved a gain of recognition through unfair labor practice pro-

ceedings. See note 18 and accompanying text supra.
40. 607 F.2d at 1215. Bargaining orders are intended to establish a collective

bargaining relationship when the union demonstrates its majority support, but
loses that support because of unfair labor practices by the employer. Section 10(c)
of the NLRA authorizes bargaining orders by allowing the Board to take affirmative
action to remedy unfair labor practices. 29 U.S.C. § 160(c) (1976). Relying on princi-
ples set out in NLRB v. Gissel Packing Co., 395 U.S. 575, 600 (1969), the union was
able to show majority support through union authorization cards signed by a major-
ity of employees in the bargaining unit. 607 F.2d at 1215. For a thorough discussion
of Gissel bargaining orders, see Pogrebin, NLRB Bargaining Orders Since Gissel:
Wandering From a Landmark, 46 ST. JOHN'S L. REV. 193 (1971); Note, NLRB v. Gis-
sel Packing Co.: Bargaining Orders and Employee Free Choice, 45 N.Y.U. L. REV.
318 (1970). For Eighth Circuit bargaining order guidelines, see Arbie Mineral Feed
v. NLRB, 438 F.2d 940, 945 (8th Cir. 1971).

41. 607 F.2d at 1215-16.
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Courts have disagreed on whether or not to reopen the record
to investigate "employee turnover and the departure of culpable
personnel. '42 The Board has rejected the idea that it must con-
sider on remand whether a fair election is possible at that time.43

In Curlee the Eighth Circuit agreed with the Board, and held that
it was not required to consider events which occurred after a bar-
gaining order had been issued.44

EMPLOYEE DISCHARGES

Section 8(a) (3) of the NLRA makes it an unfair labor practice
for an employer "by discrimination in regard to hire or tenure of
employment or any term or condition of employment to encourage
or discourage membership in any labor organization .... ,,45 The
relative simplicity of the language obscures, at first, the difficulty of
its interpretation.46 However, it has presented "the most vexing
problems of statutory construction. '4 7 It requires a balancing be-
tween the employer's legitimate business interests and the em-
ployee's free choice concerning participation in union activity.48

Congress did not intend that unionism would protect employees
from discharge for their own misconduct.4 9 On the other hand em-
ployers cannot use misconduct as an excuse to discriminate
against union members. 50 Two cases decided by the Eighth Cir-

42. R. GORMAN, supra note 18, at 101; see, e.g., General Steel Prods., Inc. v.
NLRB, 445 F.2d 1350, 1356 (4th Cir. 1971); NLRB v. General Stencils, Inc., 438 F.2d
894, 900 (2d Cir. 1971), on remand, 195 N.L.R.B. 1109, enforcement denied, 472 F.2d
170 (2d Cir. 1972); NLRB v. L.B. Foster Co., 418 F.2d 1, 4-5 (9th Cir. 1969), cert. de-
nied, 397 U.S. 990 (1970).

43. Gibson Prods. Co., 199 N.L.R.B. 794 (1972), enforcement denied, 494 F.2d 762
(5th Cir. 1974).

44. 607 F.2d at 1216; see NLRB v. Gissel Packing Co., 395 U.S. 575, 610-13 (1969);
NLRB v. Pacific Southwest Airlines, 550 F.2d 1148, 1153 (9th Cir. 1977); G.P.D., Inc. v.
NLRB, 430 F.2d 963, 964 (6th Cir. 1970); NLRB v. L.B. Foster Co., 418 F.2d 1, 4-5 (9th
Cir. 1969), cert. denied, 397 U.S. 990 (1970).

45. 29 U.S.C. § 158(a) (3) (1976).
46. R. GORMAN, supra note 18, at 326.
47. Id.
48. Getman, Section 8(a)(3) of the NLRA and the Effort to Insulate Free Em-

ployee Choice, 32 U. CH. L. REV. 735, 735 (1965).
49. Section 10(c) provides that "[nJo order of the Board shall require the rein-

statement of any individual as an employee who has been suspended or discharged,
or the payment to him of any back pay, if such individual was suspended or dis-
charged for cause." 29 U.S.C. § 160(c) (1976). The enactment of section 10(c) was
"intended to put an end to the belief ... that engaging in union activities carries
with it a license to loaf, wander about the plants, refuse to work, waste time, break
rules, and engage in incivilities and other disorders and misconduct." H.R. REP. No.
245, 80th Cong., 1st Sess. 42 (1947).

50. American Ship Building Co. v. NLRB, 380 U.S. 300, 311-12 (1965).
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cuit last term illustrate the problem. 51

In Berbiglia, Inc. v. NLRB,5 2 an unfair labor practice strike was
initiated against a liquor store chain by the Retail Store Employ-
ees Union.53 When the strikers returned to work, the union strike
captain was paired with a new employee, who was told to inform
the store manager of anything the strike captain said about the
union.54 A month later, both employees were fired for padding
their retail sales commissions. 55 The union filed unfair labor prac-
tice charges against the company, claiming that the employees
were fired for their union activities. 56 The Board found that
Berbiglia had violated sections 8(a) (3) and 8(a) (1) of the NLRA,
and ordered reinstatement with back pay for the discharged em-
ployees. 57 The Eighth Circuit agreed, holding that even though
there were valid grounds for discharge, this "did not permit the
employer to use that unlawful conduct as a pretext for discrimina-
tion against members of the union. ' 58 In so deciding, the court
placed emphasis on the employer's history of hostility to the union
and the fact that an anti-union sales clerk who was also accused of
padding commissions was never investigated and was later pro-
moted to store manager.59

The court came to a somewhat different conclusion in Ne-
braska Bulk Transport, Inc. v. NLRB. 60 During efforts to organize
the plant, Nebraska Bulk Transport discharged two employees

51. Nebraska Bulk Transp., Inc. v. NLRB, 608 F.2d 311 (8th Cir. 1979); Berbiglia,
Inc. v. NLRB, 602 F.2d 839 (8th Cir. 1979).

52. 602 F.2d 839 (8th Cir. 1979).
53. Id. at 841-42.
54. Id. at 842.
55. Id.
56. Id. at 843.
57. Id. at 841. Section 10(c) of the NLRA allows the Board to take affirmative

action, including reinstatement and back pay, to remedy unfair labor practices by
employers. 29 U.S.C. § 160(c) (1976).

58. 602 F.2d at 843 (citing R.J. Lallier Trucking v. NLRB, 558 F.2d 1322, 1325 (8th
Cir. 1977); Singer Co. v. NLRB, 429 F.2d 172, 180 (8th Cir. 1970); NLRB v. Symons
Mfg. Co., 328 F.2d 835, 837 (7th Cir. 1964)); see McDonald v. Santa Fe Trail Transp.
Co., 427 U.S. 273, 284 n.14 (1976); McDonnell Douglas Corp. v. Green, 411 U.S. 792,
804 (1973); American Ship Bldg. Co. v. NLRB, 380 U.S. 300, 311-13 (1965); NLRB V.
Fremont Mfg. Co., 558 F.2d 889, 891 (8th Cir. 1977); NLRB v. Montgomery Ward & Co.,
554 F.2d 996, 1002 (10th Cir. 1977); Randolph Div., Ethan Allen, Inc. v. NLRB, 513 F.2d
706, 708 (1st Cir. 1975); NLRB v. Central Press, 527 F.2d 1156, 1158 (9th Cir. 1975);
NLRB v. Gentithes, 463 F.2d 557, 560 (3d Cir. 1972); NLRB v. Gladding Keystone
Corp., 435 F.2d 129, 131-32 (2d Cir. 1970); NLRB v. Superior Sales, Inc., 366 F.2d 229,
233-35 (8th Cir. 1966); NLRB v. Linda Joe Shoe Co., 307 F.2d 355, 357 (5th Cir. 1962);
Sunshine Biscuits, Inc. v. NLRB, 274 F.2d 738, 742 (7th Cir. 1960); Williams Motor Co.
v. NLRB, 218 F.2d 960, 964 (8th Cir. 1942).

59. 602 F.2d at 842-43.
60. 608 F.2d 311 (8th Cir. 1979).
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who were active with the union.6 1 The Administrative Law Judge
found that the discharges were motivated by the prounion activi-
ties of the employees, and the Board ordered their reinstatement
with back pay.62 The Court of Appeals disagreed with the rein-
statement of one of the employees, Roger Grant.63 Grant had dis-
closed only two traffic violations on his application.64 In fact, he
had five, one in 1973, two in 1975, and two in 1976,65 leaving only
four points on his driver's license before revocation. 66 Nebraska
Bulk Transport's insurer refused to cover Grant, so he was termi-
nated.

67

Even though the employer had violated sections 8(a) (1) and
(3) of the Act, the court found that reinstatement with back pay
was not a proper remedy in this case.68 After balancing the con-
flicting interests involved, it determined that reinstatement would
not further the purposes of the Act.69 Specifically, it followed the
reasoning of the Fifth Circuit in NLRB v. Big Three Industrial Gas
& Equipment Co. 70 Big Three also involved a truck driver active in
the union who was discharged for too many traffic violations. 71

The court in that case concluded that the primary motive for dis-
charge was retaliation against the employee's union activities and
discrimination against union activities in general.7 2 Therefore, sec-
tion 8(a) (3) had been violated.7 3 However, the Fifth Circuit Court
refused to allow reinstatement, because it would not be in accord
with "safety on the public highways. ' 74 Similarly, in Nebraska
Bulk Transport, the court concluded that if an employee's driving
record is such that he cannot be insured, reinstatement should not

61. Id. at 313.
62. Id. at 314.
63. Id. at 317.
64. Id. at 315.
65. Id.
66. Id. at 316. Nebraska has a point system to control speeding violations. If a

driver receives twelve points, his license is revoked. The number of points received
for each violation depends on how far over the speed limit the driver is going. NEB.
REV. STAT. §§ 39-669.26, .27 (Reissue 1978).

67. 608 F.2d at 315.
68. Id. at 316.

'69. Id. at 317. For a discussion of the interests that should be weighed in deter-
mining whether or not to reinstate an employee, see Golden State Bottling Co. v.
NLRB, 414 U.S. 168, 181 (1973).

70. 405 F.2d 1140, 1142-43 (5th Cir. 1969); see NLRB v. Breitling, 378 F.2d 663, 664
(10th Cir. 1967); NLRB v. R.C. Can Co., 340 F.2d 433, 436 (5th Cir. 1965); NLRB v.
National Furniture Mfg. Co., 315 F.2d 280, 286 (7th Cir. 1963). But see NLRB v.
Princeton Inn Co., 424 F.2d 264, 265 (3d Cir. 1970).

71. 405 F.2d at 1142.
72. Id.
73. Id. at 1143.
74. Id.
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be required whether or not there has been a violation of the
NLRA.

75

INVESTIGATORY INTERVIEWS

Section 7 of the NLRA guarantees an employee the right to
request the assistance of a union representative as a condition to
participation in an employer interview that the employee reason-
ably believes will result in his discipline. 76 The Supreme Court
has recognized that requiring an employee to attend an investiga-
tory interview alone only "perpetuates the inequality the Act was
designed to eliminate. '77

The Eighth Circuit examined three cases during the 1979 term
involving investigatory interviews in which employees had re-
quested the assistance of their union steward.78 Each turned on
the question of whether the employee could reasonably have
feared discipline in the situation, and each came to a different re-
sult.

79

In AAA Equipment Service Co. v. NLRB,80 an employee was
questioned by his foreman concerning the employee's reasons for
being absent the day before. 81 The employee told the foreman it
was none of his business and that he wanted the shop steward the
next time the foreman talked to him.82 The foreman and the serv-
ice manager approached the employee the next day, but the em-
ployee refused to allow the manager to tell him what he wanted to
discuss without a steward present.83 The employee was fired, and

75. 608 F.2d at 317.
76. NLRB v. J. Weingarten, Inc., 420 U.S. 251, 261-62 (1975). For an extended

discussion about employee representation rights at investigatory interviews, see
Comment, Union Presence in Disciplinary Meetings, 41 U. CHi. L. REV. 329 (1974).

77. American Ship Building Co. v. NLRB, 380 U.S. 300, 316 (1965).
78. NLRB v. Potter Elec. Signal Co., 600 F.2d 120 (8th Cir. 1979); AAA Equip.

Serv. Co. v. NLRB, 598 F.2d 1142 (8th Cir. 1979); Newton Sheet Metal, Inc. v. NLRB,
598 F.2d 478 (8th Cir. 1979).

79. NLRB v. J. Weingarten, Inc., 420 U.S. 251, 257 n.5 (1975). "Reasonableness"
is not based on the subjective reaction of the employee. It is determined from an
objective inquiry into the circumstances of each case. Id.

80. 598 F.2d 1142 (8th Cir. 1979).
81. Id. at 1144.
82. Id. Specifically, the employee stated, "It's none of anybody's - business

what I do when I take off." When the foreman told the employee that he would tell
the employer what the employee had said if he was asked, the employee responded,
"I don't give a - what you does. It's none of their - business or yours either one.
... The next time you talk to me, I want my shop steward." Id.

83. Id. The manager approached the employee and said, "Frank, I want to talk
to you." The employee responded, "I want my shop steward." The manager contin-
ued to inform the employee that he wanted to speak with him, and the employee
continued yelling, "Get your shop steward." When the employee started to walk
away, the manager stated, "If you walk off and leave me here and refuse a direct
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the Board found that he had been terminated for refusing to par-
ticipate in an investigatory interview without a union steward.8 4

The Eighth Circuit disagreed, adopting the determination of the
Administrative Law Judge that the Act had not been violated.8 5

The Administrative Law Judge felt that the employee had no rea-
son to fear an adverse impact from the interview, and therefore
there was "no reasonable basis for him to seek the assistance of
his representative. '86 He also determined that the employee had
actually been discharged for refusing to permit the service man-
ager to state what he wanted to talk about and for walking away
while the manager was trying to do so, and not for exercising any
rights under the NLRA.87

The court noted that a supervisory interview about work per-
formance inevitably carries with it a threat of discipline.88 Yet, for
the right of representation to arise that threat must be accompa-
nied by a purpose to obtain information for possible disciplinary
action. 89 Such a purpose was not presented in AAA Equipment.90

When a disciplinary interview is conducted without the re-
quested union assistance, the employer will be found guilty of an
unfair labor practice. 9 1 However, that does not automatically indi-
cate that a discharged employee will be reinstated. In NLRB v.
Potter Electric Signal Co.,92 two female employees were involved
in a fight on the production line.93 Each was taken aside and ques-
tioned about the incident without the presence of their union stew-
ard after they had requested his presence, and both were fired.94

The Board found that Potter Electric had violated section 8(a) (1)
of the NLRA by failing to allow the requested union assistance,95

and ordered reinstatement with back pay for both employees. 96

order, you are terminated." The employee said, "- you, I'm getting the shop
steward." Id. at 1144.

84. Id.
85. Id. at 1145.
86. Id. at 1144.
87. Id.
88. Id. at 1146.
89. Id.; accord, Alfred M. Lewis, Inc. v. NLRB, 587 F.2d 403, 410 (9th Cir. 1978).
90. 598 F.2d at 1146.
91. R. GORMAN, supra note 18, at 396.
92. 600 F.2d 120 (8th Cir. 1979).
93. Id. at 122. One employee, Pegues, told another employee, Koelling, that

anything she had to say to her she could say to her face, and Koelling told Pegues
that she could "kiss her -. " Id. Pegues then struck Koelling, and the supervisor
broke it up. Id.

94. Id.
95. Id. at 122. The Board felt that the employees' requests were reasonable,

because they could reasonably fear that disciplinary action against them might re-
sult from the interview. Id. at 123.

96. Id. at 122.
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The Eighth Circuit agreed that Potter Electric had violated section
8(a) (1), but it found that reinstatement with back pay was not the
proper remedy,97 because the employees were fired for fighting,
which resulted in shutting down the production line, and not for
requesting union assistance. 98

In contrast the court concluded that an employee was fired for
requesting union assistance in Newton Sheet Metal, Inc. v.
NLRB.99 In that case, the employee was given four alternatives to
choose from concerning his job after he mishandled a particular
operation. 10 0 He was told to report his decision to the president of
the company the following day.' 10 When the employee arrived the
next day with his union representatives, the employer refused to
talk to the employee with the union representatives present. 10 2

The employee was fired, and the Board found that the company
had violated section 8(a) (3) of the Act.103 The Court of Appeals
agreed, holding that the employee had been discharged for insist-
ing on his right to representation. 10 4 The court distinguished
Newton from Potter Electric noting that the facts in Newton indi-
cated that the employee was clearly fired for refusing to participate
in the investigatory interview, whereas in Potter Electric the dis-
charge was not linked to an assertion of section 7 rights even
though those rights may have been violated. 10 5

Central to the decisions in AAA Equipment, Newton, and Pot-
ter Electric is whether or not the employee was discharged for in-
sisting on his section 7 rights.10 6 If the employee causes his
discharge through his own misconduct, there is either no violation
of section 8(a) (3)107 or reinstatement with backpay is an improper

97. 600 F.2d at 123; see, e.g., Alfred M. Lewis, Inc. v. NLRB, 587 F.2d 403, 412 (9th
Cir. 1978); NLRB v. Apico Inns of Cal., Inc., 512 F.2d 1171, 1176 (9th Cir. 1975); NLRB
v. Plastic Applicators, Inc., 369 F.2d 495, 498 (5th Cir. 1966); NLRB v. Clearwater
Finishing Co., 216 F.2d 608, 608 (4th Cir. 1954); cf. Fiberboard Paper Prods. Corp. v.
NLRB, 379 U.S. 203, 217 (1964) (employees did not cause their discharge by their
own actions).

98. 600 F.2d at 123.
99. 598 F.2d 478, 480 (8th Cir. 1979) (per curiam).

100. Id. at 479. The four alternatives were: continue his present job, but assume
the responsibilities that go with it; be demoted to a job with less responsibility; be
demoted to a job with no responsibility; or quit. Id.

101. Id.
102. Id.
103. Id. at 478.
104. Id. at 480.
105. Id. at 480 n.2. See generally Comment, Union Presence In Disciplinary

Meetings, 41 U. CHi L. REV. 329 (1974).
106. See note 78 and accompanying text supra.
107. See, e.g., AAA Equip. Serv. Co. v. NLRB, 598 F.2d 1142, 1145-46 (8th Cir.

1979).

1420 [Vol. 13



LABOR LAW

remedy.1 08

DUTY TO BARGAIN

Section 8(a) (5) of the NLRA makes it an unfair labor practice
for an employer "to refuse to bargain collectively with the repre-
sentatives of his employees."'1 9 This duty is given general defini-
tion by section 8(d), which provides that "bargain [ing] collectively
is the performance of the mutual obligation ... to meet at reason-
able times and confer in good faith with respect to wages, hours,
and other terms and conditions of employment .... -110 Difficul-
ties in this area arise over the construction of "good faith" and
"wages, hours, and other terms and conditions of employment."' 1 1

The concept of good faith suggests that a sincere effort must be
made to reach a compromise, and sincerity of the effort is mea-
sured by the subjective intent of the parties. 112 In the absence of a
duty to bargain in good faith, an employer could simply go through
the motions of bargaining and destroy a union just as if it had with-
held recognition."1

3

The construction of "wages, hours, and other terms and condi-
tions of employment" is important because it outlines mandatory
subjects of bargaining,114 and the duty to bargain arises only when
a mandatory subject is involved." 5 If no mandatory subject is at
issue, the parties are free to take unilateral action, free to refuse to
bargain on the question, and prohibited from insisting on the mat-
ter as a condition to bargaining on mandatory topics.116

Once an agreement has been reached, the duty to bargain con-
tinues for the term of the contract. 117 Therefore, when a party
makes a unilateral change during that term, it may violate its duty
to bargain if the change involves a mandatory topic." 8 In Ameri-

108. See, e.g., Potter Electric Signal Co. v. NLRB, 600 F.2d 120, 123-24 (8th Cir.
1979). See generally Alfred M. Lewis Inc. v. NLRB, 587 F.2d 403, 412 (9th Cir. 1978);
see cases cited in note 94 supra.

109. 29U.S.C. § 158(a)(5) (1976).
110. Id. § 158(d).
111. R. GORMAN, supra note 18, at 399. For a history of these terms, see NLRB v.

American National Ins. Co., 343 U.S. 395, 401-04 (1952).
112. Cox, The Duty to Bargain in Good Faith, 71 HARV. L. REV. 1401, 1414 (1958).
113. Id. at 1413.
114. NLRB v. Wooster Div. of Borg-Warner Corp., 356 U.S. 342, 348-49 (1958).

Mandatory subjects must be bargained about until impasse; permissive subjects
may be changed at will. Id.

115. Id.
116. Id.
117. NLRB v. C&C Plywood Corp., 385 U.S. 421, 428 (1967).
118. NLRB v. Wooster Div. of Borg-Warner Corp., 356 U.S. 342, 348-49 (1958).
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can Oil Co. v. NLRB, 119 Amoco changed the work schedule of its
employees at a North Dakota oil refinery without bargaining with
their representatives. 120 The new schedule was designed to ac-
commodate eight full-time employees, in contrast to nine full-time
employees in the old schedule. 121 The union filed an unfair labor
practice charge against Amoco. 122 Amoco argued that it had no
duty to bargain, because the change did not have a significant im-
pact on the "terms and conditions of employment.' 23 The
Supreme Court has determined in Allied Chemical and Alkali
Workers, Local 1 v. Pittsburg Plate Glass Co.,124 that in order for
something to be a mandatory subject of collective bargaining, it
must "vitally affect" the "terms and conditions of employment."'125

The Eighth Circuit looked to a recent Supreme Court decision
limiting Pittsburg Plate to determine whether the schedule change
was a mandatory subject of bargaining.126 In Ford Motor Co. v.
NLRB, 12 7 the Supreme Court decided that the "significant impact"
standard should be used only when a third party interest was in-
volved.128 Since no third party interest was involved in American
Oil, the court followed the Board's determination that the modi-
fied work schedule was a material change in the terms and condi-
tions of employment. 29 Therefore, the company had violated
Section 8(a) (5) and 8(a) (1) of the Act by its unilateral action. 130

Another aspect of the employer's duty to bargain during the
contract term involves his obligation to furnish information to the
union.131 Information in an employer's possession that is neces-
sary or relevant for the union to properly handle its job as bargain-
ing representative must be furnished to the union on its request. 32

If the employer refuses to furnish the relevant information, he will
be found guilty of an unfair labor practice. 133 The cases in this
area ordinarily revolve around the issue of the relevance of the re-

119. 602 F.2d 184 (8th Cir. 1979).
120. Id. at 185-86.
121. Id. at 185. There was no cutback in work, but simply more use of the part-

time employees. Id.
122. Id. at 186.
123. Id.
124. 404 U.S. 157 (1971).
125. Id. at 179.
126. 602 F.2d at 187.
127. 99 S. Ct. 1842 (1979).
128. Id. at 1851.
i29. 602 F.2d at 187.
130. Id. at 190.
131. NLRB v. Acme Indus. Co., 385 U.S. 432, 433 (1967).
132. R. GoRMAN, supra note 18, at 409.
133. NLRB v. Acme Indus. Co., 385 U.S. 432, 435-36 (1967).
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quested information.13 4

In Proctor & Gamble Manufacturing Co. v. NLRB, 135 the union
requested information from the company in order to make a deci-
sion on whether to arbitrate two employee grievances. 1 36 The
union requested, among other things, the job evaluation manual,
current job descriptions, and employee evaluation sheets. 37 The
most important information was contained in the job evaluation
manual. 138 It contained a highly sophisticated plan which deter-
mined the salary range for each position.139 Since the employees
were complaining that they had the same duties as those classified
in higher salary ranges, the union needed the manual to evaluate
their complaints.

140

The company responded to the request with a letter stating
that it would be happy to answer any questions the union might
have. 14 ' However, the union's job evaluation representative would
not be allowed to take notes, to copy anything, or to divulge the
process to anyone.142 The union filed an unfair labor practice
charge, and the Board found that the union had a statutory right to
the information it had requested. 4 3

The Eighth Circuit agreed with the Board, holding that the of-
fer to meet with the union was "unresponsive to the union's re-
quest," and that the restrictions would make it impossible for the
union to arbitrate the employee's grievances.'" In addition, confi-
dentiality of the information was outweighed by the need to facili-

134. Note, Scope of NLRB Remedies-NLRB Cannot Order Release of Confiden-
tial Information in Absence of Adequate Security, 13 CREIGHTON L. REv. 671, 671
(1979).

135. 603 F.2d 1310 (8th Cir. 1979).
136. Id. at 1313-14.
137. Id.
138. Id.
139. Id.
140. Id.
141. Id. at 1314.
142. Id. at 1317.
143. Id. The Supreme Court determined in NLRB v. Truitt Mfg. Co., 351 U.S. 149

(1956), that a rejection of a request for relevant information would not automati-
cally be condemned as bad faith bargaining, but would be determined on a case by
case basis. Id. at 153. However, it has been held to be an unfair labor practice for
an employer to refuse to furnish information concerning job rates and classifica-
tions. See, e.g., Taylor Forge & Pipe Works v. NLRB, 234 F.2d 227 (7th Cir. 1956);
NLRB v. Boston Herald-Traveler Corp., 210 F.2d 134 (1st Cir. 1954). It has also been
held that "merely meeting and conferring without a prior exchange of requested
data, where such is relevant, does not facilitate effective collective bargaining, and
therefore, does not meet the requirements of section 8(a) (1) and (5)." Curtiss-
Wright Corp. v. NLRB, 347 F.2d 61, (3d Cir. 1965). See generally Cox, supra note 114,
at 1427; Huston, Furnishing Information as an Element of Employer's Good Faith
Bargaining, 35 U. DET. L.J. 471 (1951).

144. 603 F.2d at 1317.

1980] 1423



CREIGHTON LAW REVIEW

tate effective collective bargaining and arbitration. 145

A further aspect of the duty to bargain arises when there is a
change in the identity of the employer.146 The "successorship doc-
trine," as it has been named, is an attempt to balance conflicting
employer-employee interests. 47 The employer, on the one hand,
should have the freedom to transfer his assets and rearrange his
business. 148 The employee, on the other hand, should be allowed
to continue his employment with the same job and benefit secur-
ity.149 Therefore, when an employer does sell, several factors are
weighed concerning the new operations to determine whether the
purchaser is a "successor."' 150

Included among these factors are: continuity of business oper-
ations; use of the same plant by the new employer; use of substan-
tially the same work force; existence of the same jobs and the
same working conditions; retention of the same supervisors; use of
the same equipment and production methods; and manufacture of
the same product.' 5' If successorship is found, the new employer
is bound to recognize and bargain with the predecessor's union.152

In Valmac Industries, Inc. v. NLRB, 153 the Teamsters Union
was certified as the collective bargaining agent for Swift's feed mill
employees and live chicken drivers. 54 Valmac purchased Swift's
plant and hired several of Swift's employees. 155 The Teamsters de-
manded recognition, and Valmac ,refused.156 The union then filed
an unfair labor practice charge against the company.157 The Board
found that Valmac was a successor of Swift, and therefore Valmac
had violated sections 8(a) (5) and (1) of the Act by refusing to bar-
gain with the union. 58 The Eighth Circuit agreed. 59

145. Id.
146. R. GORMAN, supra note 18, at 116.
147. Slicker, A Reconsideration of the Doctrine of Employer Successorship-A

Step Toward a Rational Approach, 57 MiNN. L. REV. 1051, 1051 (1973).
148. Id. at 1052.
149. Id.
150. J-P Mfg. Co., 194 N.L.R.B. 965, 79 L.R.R.M. 1216 (1972).
151. Id. at 968-69.
152. NLRB v. Burns Int'l Security Servs, Inc., 406 U.S. 272, 281 (1972); Goldberg,

The Labor Law Obligations of a Successor Employer, 63 N.W.U.L. REV. 735, 791
(1969).

153. 599 F.2d 246 (8th Cir. 1979).
154. Id. at 247.
155. Id.
156. Id.
157. Id.
158. Id. at 246-47. The Board considered these factors in making its decision:

(1) all of the live chicken drivers and a majority of the feed mill employees were
former employees of Swift; (2) there was no interruption in operations as a result of
the change; (3) Valmac used the same equipment; and (4) Valmac produced the
same product. Id.
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Valmac argued that the successorship doctrine should be ap-
plied only where there has been a recent election. 160 If the election
took place a long time ago, as in this case, the employees in ques-
tion probably did not select the union as their bargaining agent. 16 1

The court, however, felt that the length of the collective bargaining
relationship was not the proper criteria. 62 To illustrate, it quoted
from an earlier Eighth Circuit opinion, NLRB v. Polytech, Inc.,163
which held that the test for successorship was continuity, that is,
was the employing firm substantially the same after the transfer of
ownership? 164 The length of the collective bargaining relationship
does not make much difference in this area, because successorship
is really a decision about the status of the employer, and not about
the intentions of the employees concerning their bargaining repre-
sentative.'

65

ECONOMIC STRIKERS

There are two forms of permissible strikes: economic and un-
fair labor practice. 166 An economic strike is usually concerned
with better wages, hours, or working conditions, 167 and an unfair
labor practice strike is concerned with employer conduct in viola-
tion of the NLRA.168 The rights and duties of all those involved in a

159. 599 F.2d at 249. The court applied the "successorship doctrine" as enunci-
ated in NLRB v. Burns Int'l Security Servs., Inc., 406 U.S. 272, 281 (1972), and NLRB
v. Polytech, Inc., 469 F.2d 1226, 1230 (8th Cir. 1972). In Burns the court held that a
company which took over the operations and employees of another company could
be ordered to bargain with the predecessor's union. 406 U.S. at 295-96. For a full
discussion of the doctrine, see Morris and Gaus, Successorship and the Collective
Bargaining Agreement: Accommodating Wiley and Burns, 59 VA. L. REV. 1359
(1973); Slicker, A Reconsideration of the Doctrine of Employer Successorship-A
Step Toward a Rational Approach, 57 MINN. L. REV. 1051 (1973); Note, Contractual
Successorship: The Impact of Burns, 40 U. CHI. L. REV. 617 (1973); Note, Contract
Rights and the Successor Employer. The Impact of Burns Security, 71 MICH. L. REV.
571 (1973).

160. 599 F.2d at 248. In Burns there had been an election in the past year. 406
U.S. at 274. In Valmac the collective bargaining relationship had been in effect for
at least eleven years. 599 F.2d at 247.

161. 599 F.2d at 247.
162. Id.
163. 469 F.2d 1226 (8th Cir. 1972).
164. Id. at 1228, see Stockton Door Co., 218 N.L.R.B. 1053, 89 L.R.R.M. 1428 (1975),

enforced, 547 F.2d 489 (9th Cir. 1976), cert. denied, 434 U.S. 834 (1977); Zim's Food-
liner, Inc. v. NLRB, 495 F.2d 1131 (7th Cir. 1974), cert. denied, 419 U.S. 838 (1974).

165. Morris & Gaus, supra note 160, at 1394-95.
166. R. GORMAN, supra note 21, at 339.
167. See NLRB v. Mackay Radio & Tel. Co., 304 U.S. 333, 345-46 (1938); Comment,

Unfair Labor Practices in a Strike Context From Balancing Competing Interests to
Justifying Business Conduct, 23 U. MIAMI L. REV. 747, 751 (1969).

168. See Mastro Plastics Corp. v. NLRB, 350 U.S. 270 (1956); Comment, Unfair
Labor Practices in a Strike Context, supra note 162, at 751; Note, 67 MICH. L. REV.
1629, 1633 (1969).
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strike are determined by the strike's classification. 169 An unfair la-
bor practice striker has an absolute right to reinstatement, so the
employer has no right to hire a permanent replacement. 170 In the
case of an economic striker, there is no absolute right to reinstate-
ment, so the employer is free to hire a permanent replacement.' 71

However, the economic striker's status as an "employee" contin-
ues until he has obtained "other regular and substantially
equivalent employment."'1 72 This means that if a job becomes
available for which the striker is qualified, he is entitled to rein-
statement.

173

The appropriate duration of the economic striker's right of re-
instatement has caused considerable controversy between the
courts and the Board.'7 4 In addition, employers who have at-
tempted to require some affirmative conduct on the part of the em-
ployee have not been very successful. 75

In NLRB v. Vitronic Division of Penn Corp.,176 several perma-
nent employees were hired to replace economic strikers. 7 7 The
company required the strikers to sign a "request for reinstate-
ment" form to be considered for an opening when one occurred. 178

When nine employees did not renew their request, they were in-
formed that they had been removed from the active files. 179 The
employees filed unfair labor practice charges against the company,
and the Board ordered their reinstatement with back pay. 80 The
Court of Appeals agreed, finding that the company's renewal re-

169. R. GORMAN, supra note 21, at 339.
170. Martin, The Rights of Economic Strikers to Reinstatement: A Search for Cer-

tainty, 1970 Wis. L. REV. 1062, 1063.
171. Id.
172. 29 U.S.C. § 152(3) (1976); see NLRB v. Mackay Radio & Tel. Co., 304 U.S. 333,

345-46 (1938).
173. NLRB v. Great Dane Trailers, 388 U.S. 26, 34 (1967).
174. See, e.g., NLRB v. Fleetwood Trailer Co., 389 U.S. 375, 380 (1967); American

Mach. Corp. v. NLRB, 424 F.2d 1321, 1328 (5th Cir. 1970); Laidlaw Corp. v. NLRB, 414
F.2d 99, 105 (7th Cir. 1969), cert. denied, 397 U.S. 920 (1970); Brooks Research & Mfg.,
Inc., 202 N.L.R.B. 634, 636 (1973); Brown and Root, Inc., 132 N.L.R.B. 486 (1961), en-
forced, 311 F.2d 447 (8th Cir. 1963); Atlas Storage Div., 112 N.L.R.B. 1175 (1955), en-
forced sub. nom., Chauffers, Teamsters and Helpers, Local 200 v. NLRB, 233 F.2d 233
(7th Cir. 1956); Bartlett-Collins Co., 110 N.L.R.B. 395 (1954), enforced sub. nom.,
American Flint Glass Workers Union v. NLRB, 230 F.2d 212 (D.C. Cir. 1956);
Container Mfg. Co., 75 N.L.R.B. 1082 (1948), enforcement denied sub. nom., Sax v.
NLRB, 171 F.2d 769 (7th Cir. 1948); Republic Steel Corp., 62 N.L.R.B. 1009 (1945).

175. NLRB v. Vitronic, No. 79-1154 (8th Cir. Nov. 1979); American Mach. Corp. v.
NLRB, 424 F.2d 1321, 1328 (5th Cir. 1970); Brooks Research & Mfg., Inc., 202 N.L.R.B.
634, 636 (1973).

176. No. 79-1154 (8th Cir. Nov. 1979).
177. Id. slip op. at 2.
178. Id.
179. Id.
180. Id. at 3.
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quirement overly burdened the reinstatement rights of economic
strikers. 18 1

The Fifth Circuit and the Board 182 had both suggested in ear-
lier cases that the arrangement set up by the company would be
acceptable. 183 However, the Eighth Circuit insisted that both sug-
gestions were dicta, and that to follow them would curtail the strik-
ers' rights.184 One justice dissented, because he found the
arrangement completely reasonable. 185

EMPLOYER COUNTERMEASURES

Once a union has been certified as the collective bargaining
representative for a group of employees, its majority status is ir-
rebuttably presumed for a period of one year.186 After that, the
presumption of majority status continues, but it can be rebutted by
affirmative evidence that the union no longer has majority support,
or by evidence of the employer's good-faith doubt in the union's
majority.

18 7

In National Car Rental System, Inc. v. NLRB, 18 8 the union
staged an economic strike after negotiations for a new contract
came to a standstill.189 As a result, National replaced all ten of its
employees after they refused to return to work. 190 Then National
announced that it did not think that the union still represented a
majority of its employees, so it refused to continue bargaining.' 9'

The Board found National guilty of an unfair labor practice and

181. Id. at 8-9; see NLRB v. Fleetwood Trailer Co., 389 U.S. 375, 380 (1967);
Laidlaw Corp. v. NLRB, 414 F.2d 99, 105 (7th Cir. 1969), cert. denied, 397 U.S. 920
(1970).

182. See, e.g., American Mach. Corp. v. NLRB, 424 F.2d 1321, 1328 (5th Cir. 1970);
Brooks Research & Mfg., Inc., 202 N.L.R.B. 634, 636, 82 L.R.R.M. 1599, 1601 (1973).

183. The arrangement allowed the employer to tell the strikers of a reasonable
time during which their applications would be considered current, and then made
the strikers take affirmative action to remain in a current status. No. 79-1154, slip
op. at 6.

184. Id.
185. No. 79-1154, slip op. at 9 (Stephenson, J., dissenting).
186. Brooks v. NLRB, 348 U.S. 96,98 (1954); see R. GORMAN, supra note 18, at 108.
187. Terrell Mach. Co. v. NLRB, 427 F.2d 1088, 1090 (4th Cir. 1970).
188. 594 F.2d 1203 (8th Cir. 1979).
189. Id. at 1204. The particular union involved was the General Drivers and

Warehousemen Local 498.
190. 594 F.2d at 1205. The Supreme Court held in NLRB v. Mackay Radio & Tel.

Co., 304 U.S. 333 (1938), that an economic striker could be permanently replaced and
was not entitled to "bump" his replacement upon termination of the strike. How-
ever, the court also held that an economic striker retains his status as an employee
under the Act so as to retain protection against intentional discrimination by the
employer. Id. at 345-46.

191. 594 F.2d at 1205.
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directed it to bargain with the union.192 The Board relied on a case
it had decided after National announced its good faith doubt,
which stated that employees in this type of situation "are pre-
sumed to support the union in the same ratio as the employees
they have replaced. ' 193 The company relied on an earlier Board
decision which found it "unrealistic" to believe that strike replace-
ments would support the union in the same manner as the strik-
ers.

194

The Court of Appeals agreed with the company, holding that a
strike replacement is presumed not to support the union, and
should not be counted toward majority support.195 In view of this,
the court found that a good faith doubt had been demonstrated,
and therefore refused to enforce the Board's bargaining order.196

In addition, the court held that National did not commit an unfair
labor practice because it did have a good faith doubt about the sta-
tus of the union. 97

Deborah M. Wessel-'81

192. Id.
193. Windham Community Memorial Hospital, 230 N.L.R.B. 1070, 1070, enforced,

577 F.2d 805 (2d Cir. 1978); see, e.g., James W. Whitfield, 220 N.L.R.B. 507, 508-09
(1975).

194. Arkay Packaging Corp., 227 N.L.R.B. 397, 397 (1976), petition for review de-
nied, 575 F.2d 1045 (2d Cir. 1978). National argued that: all ten of the company's
employees had been replaced during an economic strike, 594 F.2d at 1205; each of
the new employees had had to cross a picket line to apply for the job, id.; each of
the new employees had to cross a picket line each day to go to work, id. at 1206;
there was no showing that the new employees would support the union, and no
showing that they had even been contacted about membership, id.

195. 594 F.2d at 1206.
196. Id. at 1207.
197. Id. An employer with a reasonable belief that a union does not represent

the majority of its employees cannot be found in violation of section 8(a)(5).
Brooks v. NLRB, 348 U.S. 96, 104 (1954); National Cash Register Co. v. NLRB, 494
F.2d 189, 193 (8th Cir. 1974); NLRB v. Dayton Motels, Inc., 474 F.2d 328, 331 (6th Cir.
1973); NLRB v. Little Rock Downtowner, Inc., 414 F.2d 1084, 1092 (8th Cir. 1969);
NLRB v. Gopher Aviation, Inc., 402 F.2d 176, 179 (8th Cir. 1968); Pulley v. NLRB, 395
F.2d 870, 876 (6th Cir. 1968); NLRB v. Ben Duthler, Inc., 395 F.2d 28, 32-33 (6th Cir.
1968); NLRB v. John S. Swift Co., 302 F.2d 342, 346 (7th Cir. 1962).
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